PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, petitioner/appellant R. Timothy Carter, O.D., will be referred to as Dr. Carter or as appellant. Appellee Department of Professional Regulation will be referred to as "the Department." The Board of Optometry will be referred to as "the Board." The Probable Cause Panel of the Board of Optometry will be referred to herein as "the Panel." The complainant in this matter, Keith Roberson, will be referred to as Roberson.

Citations to the original record on appeal will be made by the letter "R" and the appropriate page number. References to the appendix will be by the letter "A" and the appropriate page number and, if appropriate, by the duplicate cite to the record.

The Appendix attached hereto consists of the opinion of the District Court of Appeal in R. Timothy Carter, O.D. v. Department of Professional Regulation, Board of Optometry, 18 FLW D409 (Fla. 1st DCA January 26, 1993) at Appendix 1-8; the Final Order of the Board of Optometry in Department of Professional Regulation, Board of Optometry v. R. Timothy Carter, O.D., (filed October 20, 1989) at Appendix 9-12; and the Recommended Order of the hearing officer in Department of Professional Regulation, Board of Optometry v. R. Timothy Carter, O.D., (filed March 8, 1989) at Appendix 13-29.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from a decision rendered by the First District Court of Appeal affirming a final order entered by the Department of Professional Regulation, Board of Optometry, with the exception of the administrative fine, which the Court of Appeal reversed. The case was remanded for reconsideration of the fine. In addition, the Court of Appeal certified the following question as being of great public importance:

Whether the decision in <u>Department of Business Regulation v. Hyman</u>, 417 So. 2d 671 (Fla. 1982), should be applied when a licensee moves to dismiss an administrative complaint because the department or the board has failed to comply with the time limitations of section 455.225, Florida Statutes?

This action arose after Keith Roberson filed a consumer complaint with the Department against R. Timothy Carter, O.D. Roberson, who suffered from extreme near sightedness (R 804). (myopia) and constant movement of the eyes from side to side (nystagmus), first came to Dr. Carter for treatment in 1979 (R 595-60). On September 7, 1982, Roberson visited Dr. Carter's office after having been struck in the left eye four days earlier (R 963). Roberson described the symptoms of a detached retina and Dr. Carter conducted an examination. However, because of Roberson's myopia and nystagmus, Dr. Carter was unable to determine conclusively whether Roberson's retina was detached (R 963-64). Dr. Carter advised Roberson to remain still, to have his mother drive him home, and to visit his ophthalmologist the first thing the following morning (R 671-74). Roberson failed to follow that advice, and instead went to work the next day. The next evening

Roberson lost vision in his left eye (964). He subsequently underwent three major operation on his left eye but ultimately lost the sight in that eye (R 964).

Roberson filed a consumer complaint against Dr. Carter on May 13, 1986, almost four years after the complained of events (R 804). The Department notified Roberson that an investigation of the complaint had been initiated and should be completed within 45 days (R 767). Ten months later, on March 19, 1987, the Department completed its initial investigation and referred the matter to the Probable Cause Panel of the Board of Optometry (R 490-91). Panel first considered the matter three months later, on June 13, 1987, at which time the Panel determined that it required additional information (R 492). On July 15, 1987, the Department retained another expert to conduct a further investigation and two months later, on September 21, 1987, the expert relayed this additional information (R 492). On November 6, 1987, the Panel reconsidered Dr. Carter's file and found probable cause to file formal charges against Dr. Carter (R 492-93). The Panel referred its finding to the Department, and finally, on February 16, 1988, 21 months after Roberson filed his complaint (and five and one-half years after the September 1982, incident), the Department filed an administrative complaint against Dr. Carter (R 1-3).

The administrative complaint contained five counts. Counts I and II challenged Dr. Carter's initial treatment program of orthokeratology in 1979 and the fee charged therefor (R 1-2). Count III alleged that Dr. Carter was negligent, incompetent or

engaged in misconduct in the practice of optometry regarding the September 1982, incident (R 2-3). Count IV alleged a records violations, and Count V alleged that Dr. Carter's treatment and examination of Roberson constituted gross and repeated malpractice in the practice of optometry (R 3).

Dr. Carter timely requested a formal hearing and, at the same time, filed a motion to dismiss the administrative complaint based on the Department's failure to comply with the time requirements of section 455.225, Fla. Stat. (1986) (R 10-17). The Department referred the matter to the Division of Administrative Hearings on April 26, 1988 (R 957). The hearing officer denied Dr. Carter's motion to dismiss on August 9, 1988 (R 90-92), and the final hearing was held on September 26 and 27, 1988 (R 956). At that time the Department made various amendments to its complaint, none of which are significant to this appeal (R 957-58, 140).

On March 8, 1989, the hearing officer issued his recommended order finding: 1) the Department failed to establish its case with respect to Counts I and II, and recommending dismissal of those counts (R 962, 963, 969-970; and A 19, 20, and 26-27); 2) the Department had withdrawn Count IV, and recommending dismissal of that count (R 958, 967, 970; and A 15, 24 and 27); and 3) Dr. Carter guilty of Counts III and V (R 968-970; and A 25-27). The hearing officer recommended a one year suspension of Dr. Carter's license, followed by one year of probation, and a minimum fine of \$5,000 (R 969; A 26).

After rejecting Dr. Carter's exceptions to the recommended order, the Board accepted the hearing officer's findings of fact and conclusions of law and issued its final order On October 11, 1989 (R 979-981; A 9-12). The Board found Dr. Carter guilty of Counts III and V, but reduced the hearing officer's recommended suspension to six months, followed by a two-year probationary period (R 981-983; and A 10-11). The Board also reduced the fine to \$2,000. Id.

Dr. Carter timely appealed the Board's final order. 0n January 23, 1993, the First District Court of Appeal filed its See Carter v. Department of Professional Regulation, Board of Optometry, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D409 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 23, The Court of Appeal rejected the Department's 1993) (A 1-8). proposition that the time limits set forth in section 455.225 existed only to ensure adequate reporting between the Department, the Board, and the Panel. The majority did accept, however, this Court's rationale in Department of Business Regulation v. Hyman, 417 So. 2d 671 (Fla. 1982), and held that violations of section 455.225 were subject to the harmless error rule. Because the majority determined that Dr. Carter failed to establish that the delays in the disciplinary process against him impaired the fairness of the proceedings or the correctness of the action taken, it affirmed the Board's final order, with the exception of the administrative fine imposed. The Court of Appeal reversed the fine and remanded for reconsideration of the same, limiting the maximum fine on remand to \$1,000.

Judge Zehmer filed a lengthy dissenting opinion. He disagreed that the Hyman test should apply to violations of section 455.225. Judge Zehmer wrote that a fair reading of 455.225(3) reveals that after expiration of the established time limits, the Panel loses its power to act, unless the Department's Secretary has granted reasonable time extensions. According to Judge Zehmer, failure to adhere to this section placed the burden on the Department and the Board to justify their unauthorized deviation from the statutory requirements, if such deviations are, in fact, capable of being excused. Judge Zehmer concluded that the correctness of the proceedings were impaired, as a matter of law, by the appellees' failure to comply with, or obtain extensions of, the time limits set forth in section 455.225, Fla. Stat.

The Court of Appeal certified to this Court the question of whether <u>Hyman</u> should be applied in this case. Dr. Carter timely invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant urges the court to adopt the position of Judge Zehmer in his dissenting opinion that the harmless error rule does not apply to violations of the time requirements of section 455.225 since they define the time frames within which the Department, the Board, and the Panel must exercise their respective powers.

Department of Business Regulation v. Hyman, 417 So. 2d 671 (Fla. 1982), under which a violation of the time requirement found in section 120.59(1), Fla. Stat., subjects the agency decision to the harmless error rule, should not apply when a licensee moves to dismiss an administrative complaint based on violations of the time limitations contained in section 455.225, Fla. Stat. (1986). Unlike the 90-day time period for issuing final orders in 120.59(1), the time limitations contained in section 455.225 are jurisdictional. Section 455.225 describes the different time periods within which one of three separate bodies -- the Department of Professional Regulation, a probable cause panel, or a regulatory board -- is authorized to take disciplinary action against a licensee.

Section 120.59(1) is part of Florida's Administrative Procedure Act ("APA"). The APA contains procedural guidelines for agency rule-making and adjudication. Each agency's scope of authority, however, derives from the agency's own organic statutes. Chapter 455, Florida Statutes, defines the boundaries within which the legislature authorizes the Department to act. It also sets some limits on the power of regulatory boards and probable cause

panels. Neither the Department, nor any of the regulatory boards, may act beyond the legislative authority delegated to that particular body.

Section 455.225 is also distinguishable from section 120.59 because the latter statute makes no provision for the consequence of failure to act within the prescribed time period. Ssection 455.225, on the other hand, removes the power to act once the time periods expire. Because the <u>Hyman</u> court relied heavily upon the fact that section 120.59 provides no sanctions or other consequences for the failure to act within the given time period, this distinction renders <u>Hyman</u> inapplicable to the instant case.

In addition, section 455.225 provides that extensions of the time periods contained therein may be granted only by the Secretary of the Department. <u>Compare</u>, §120.59(1), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (the 90 day period may be waived or extended with the consent of the parties.).

The application of the harmless error rule also defeats important public policy goals. The timely processing of complaints protects the public by facilitating prompt identification of practitioners who may endanger the public health, safety, or welfare. In addition, the time requirements of section 455.225 protect the due process interests of licensees under Departmental scrutiny. Furthermore, to permit agencies to ignore these statutory limitations with impunity invites disrespect and erodes public confidence in the legal process. If state agencies find statutory time restrictions inadequate, they make seek revision or

removal of such limitations. They may not, however, simply ignore legislative mandates.

Assuming the Court requires a finding of prejudice in order to dismiss an administrative complaint due to violations of section 455.225's time limits, the violating party must justify its delay and seek an extension. In addition, the agency must bear the burden of proving that the delay was not prejudicial to the licensee.

CERTIFIED QUESTION

Whether the decision in <u>Department of Business Regulation</u> <u>v. Hyman</u>, 417 So. 2d 671 (Fla. 1982), should be applied when a licensee moves to dismiss an administrative complaint because the department or the board has failed to comply with the time limitations of section 455.225, Florida Statutes?

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN APPLYING THE HARMLESS ERROR RULE SET FORTH IN <u>HYMAN</u> TO A LICENSEE WHO MOVES TO DISMISS AN ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT BASED ON THE FAILURE OF THE DEPARTMENT OR THE BOARD TO COMPLY WITH THE TIME LIMITATIONS OF SECTION 455.225.

The Court in <u>Hyman</u> ruled that failure to adhere to the 90-day time period for issuing final orders, required by section 120.59(1), <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, subjects the administrative proceedings to the application of the harmless error rule found in section 120.68(8), <u>Fla. Stat.</u>. The <u>Hyman</u> court placed upon the party challenging the agency decision the burden of proving that the delay prejudiced that party because "either the fairness of the proceedings or the correctness of the action may have been impaired by material error in procedure or a failure to follow prescribed procedure". <u>See</u>, § 120.68(8), <u>Fla. Stat.</u>.

A. THE HARMLESS ERROR RULE DOES NOT APPLY TO VIOLATIONS OF THE TIME REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 455.225 SINCE THIS SECTION ESTABLISHES THE TIME FRAMES WITHIN WHICH THE DEPARTMENT, THE BOARD, OR THE PANEL MUST EXERCISE THEIR RESPECTIVE POWERS.

The harmless error rule set forth in <u>Hyman</u> should not apply to violations of the time limitations set forth in section 455.225, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1986), since, unlike the 90-day period for issuing

final orders found in section 120.59(1), the time requirements contained in section 455.225 are jurisdictional.

Chapter 120, Florida Statutes, Florida's APA, grants persons adversely affected by agency action certain mechanisms for redressing their grievances. The APA describes the manner in which state agencies shall conduct their rulemaking and adjudicatory activities. The provisions of Chapter 120 do not define the scope of authority delegated by the legislature to each individual agency and board. Such authority derives from each agency or board's own organic statutes.

The Department's organic statutes are found in Chapter 455, Fla. Stat. The provisions within this chapter define the boundaries within which the Department is legislatively authorized to act. Although most, if not all, regulatory boards are creatures of their own organic statutes, (e.g., Chapter 463 defines the powers delegated to the Board of Optometry) Chapter 455 limits the scope of these boards' authority with regard to certain activities, including the extent to which boards may act in disciplinary actions instituted against licensees.

Subsections (2) and (3) of section 455.225, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1986), provide in pertinent part:

- The department shall expeditiously investigate complaints. When its investigation is complete, the department shall prepare and submit to the probable cause appropriate regulatory the board investigative report of the department. The report shall contain investigative findings the and the recommendations of the department concerning existence of probable cause.
- (3) The determination as to whether probable cause exists shall be made by majority vote of a probable cause panel

of the board, or by the department, as appropriate. Each regulatory board shall provide, by rule, that the determination of probable cause shall be made by a panel of its members or by the department. ... In aid of its duty to determine the existence of probable cause, the probable cause panel may make a reasonable request, and upon such request the department shall provide such additional investigative information as is necessary to the determination of probable cause. A request for additional investigative information shall be made within 15 days from the date of receipt by the probable cause panel of the investigative report of the department. The probable cause panel or the department, as may be appropriate, shall make its determination of probable cause within 30 days after receipt of the final investigative report of the department. The secretary may grant extensions of the 15-day and 30-day time If the probable cause panel does not find limits. probable cause within the 30-day time limit, as may be extended, or if the probable cause panel finds no probable cause, the department may determine, within 10 days after the panel fails to determine probable cause or 10 days after the time limit has elapsed, that probable If the probable cause panel finds that cause exists. probable cause exists, it shall direct the department to send the licensee a letter of guidance or to file a formal complaint against the licensee. The department shall follow the directions of the probable cause panel regarding the filing of a formal complaint; and, if directed to do so, the department shall file a formal complaint against the regulated professional or subject the investigation and prosecute that complaint pursuant to chapter 120. However, the department may decide not to prosecute the complaint if it finds that probable cause was improvidently found by the panel. such cases, the department shall refer the matter to the The board may then file a formal complaint and prosecute the complaint pursuant to chapter 120. department shall also refer to the board investigation or disciplinary proceeding not before the Division of Administrative Hearings pursuant to chapter 120 or otherwise completed by the department within 1 year of the filing of the complaint.

Beckum v. Department of Professional Regulation, Board of Optometry, 427 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) is frequently cited for the proposition that the requirements of section 455.225 are not jurisdictional. However, Beckum did not deal with the

statute's time requirements. In <u>Beckum</u>, the probable cause panel failed to properly record its proceedings. In lieu of such recording, the hearing officer accepted a record of reconstituted proceedings which the panel created through depositions of board members. The <u>Beckum</u> court held that this particular "irregularity" failed to deprive the panel of its jurisdiction. <u>Id</u>. at 277. The court noted, however, that if the asserted errors of the probable cause panel could be considered jurisdictional, implicating the panel's power to act at all, Beckum might have had a meritorious argument that the hearing officer's ruling on the matter was subject to immediate judicial review under section 120.68(1). <u>Id</u>. at 277.

In Carrow v. Department of Professional Regulation, 453 So. 2d 842 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), Carrow claimed that the Department violated section 455.225 by failing to inform him of the nature of the complaint against him, and he urged the court to dismiss the complaint on that ground. The Carrow court, citing Beckum, held that "this error cannot be considered jurisdictional in any sense". The court stated that if Carrow could subsequently show that the investigation was procedurally irregular and that any irregularities were material and impaired the fairness of the proceedings, the court could, upon final review, vacate a final order against Carrow and remand for new proceedings. Id. at 843. The <u>Carrow</u> court stated further that "[i]n the meantime, should this investigation lead to a finding of probable cause by the probable cause panel ..., and an administrative hearing be

requested, Carrow may urge the appointed hearing officer that the administrative complaint should be dismissed for failure to comply with Section 455.225(1).". Id. at 843.

The instant case differs significantly from both <u>Beckum</u> and <u>Carrow</u> since the violations complained of in the instant case are violations of section 455.225's time requirements. When constructing section 455.225, the legislature carefully delineated which body -- the Department, the Panel, or the Board -- has jurisdiction, or authority to act, at any given time over the course of the disciplinary process. Administrative bodies may not ignore these explicit legislative directives.

In the instant case, the Department took ten months (from May 13, 1986, the date Roberson filed his complaint until March 19, 1987), to complete its initial investigation, despite the fact that section 455.225(2) requires the Department to "expeditiously" investigate complaints.

On March 19, 1987, the Department referred the matter to the Panel. Although section 455.225(3) allows the Panel only 15 days within which to request further investigation, the Panel failed to make such request until three months later, on June 13, 1987. The Panel received the additional information requested on September 21, 1987, and despite the statutory requirement that the Panel make its probable cause finding within 30 of receipt of the Department's

¹The Department has construed "expeditiously" to mean 45 days. See R 767 and 496-497.

final investigative report, such finding was not made until November 6, 1987.

By the time the Department filed its administrative complaint against Dr. Carter, 21 months had passed since Roberson had filed his consumer complaint. This time period exceeds the one year period within which the Department may act under the provisions of section 455.225(3). Section 455.225(3) required the Department to refer Roberson's complaint to the Board on or before May 13, 1988, which is one year from the date the consumer complaint was initially filed.

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