PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
JURISDICTION
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
I. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT ERR IN APPLYING THE "HARMLESS ERROR" STANDARD IN DECIDING THE CASE BELOW
A. THE TIME LIMITS ARTICULATED IN SECTION 455.225, FLORIDA STATUTES, ARE NOT JURISDICTIONAL
B. AGENCY ACTION IN THIS CASE DID NOT CONSTITUTE AN INVALID EXERCISE OF DELEGATED AUTHORITY1
II. PUBLIC POLICY CONSIDERATIONS DICTATE THE APPLICATION OF THE HARMLESS ERROR RULE TO VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 455.225, FLORIDA STATUTES1
III. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT APPROPRIATELY PLACED THE BURDEN OF SHOWING PREJUDICE ON THE LICENSEE1
CONCLUSION2
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

<u>Page</u>

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

\$

...

<u>Cases</u> Page
Beckum v. Department of Professional Regulation, 427 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983)10, 11
<u>Carrow v. Department of Professional</u> <u>Regulation</u> , 453 So. 2d 842 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984)10, 11, 12
Carter v. Department of Professional Regulation, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D409, D410 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 23, 1993)5, 9, 12, 14, 21
Department of Professional Regulation <u>v. Hall</u> , 398 So. 2d 978, 979 fn.2 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981)12
<u>Department of Business Regulation v.</u> <u>Hyman</u> , 417 So. 2d 671 (Fla. 1982)1, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 18
<u>Edgerton v. International Co.,</u> 89 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 1956)14
<u>Howell v. State</u> , 418 So. 2d 1164 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982)19, 20
<u>Jenkins v. State</u> , 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980)4
<u>Machules v. Department of</u> <u>Administration</u> , 502 So. 2d 437 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986)14
<u>Machules v. Department of</u> <u>Administration</u> , 523 So. 2d 1132 (Fla. 1988)("Machules II")14
<u>Morning v. State</u> , 416 So. 2d 844 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982)18
<u>Radio Telephone Communications, Inc.</u> <u>v. Southeastern Telephone Co.</u> , 170 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 1965)12
<u>Seaboard Air Line Railroad v. Branham,</u> 104 So. 2d 356, 358 (Fla. 1958)4

<u>State v. Sobel</u> , 363 So. 2d 324 (Fla. 1978)18
<u>United States v. Lovasco</u> , 431 U.S. 783, 789, 97 S.Ct. 2044, 2048, 52 L.Ed.2d 752, <u>reh. denied</u> , 434 U.S. 881, 98 S.Ct. 242, 54 L.Ed.2d 164 (1977)19
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS Page
Article V, Florida Constitution4
Article V, section 3(b)(4), Florida Constitution4
<u>STATUTES</u> Page
Section 20.30, Florida Statutes1, 12
Section 120.59, Florida Statutes8
Section 120.59(1), Florida Statutes4, 6, 8, 12
Section 120.68(1), Florida Statutes11
Section 120.68(8), Florida Statutes
Section 120.68(8), Florida Statutes (1983)12
Chapter 455, Florida Statutes12, 18
Section 455.201, Florida Statutes
Section 455.225, Florida Statutes 1, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 17, 19
Section 455.225(1), Florida Statutes11
Section 455.225(3), Florida Statutes
Chapter 463, Florida Statutes1, 12

ج

ii

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

÷

This case comes before the Court on a petition for discretionary review of a decision of the First District Court of Appeal, in which that Court certified the following question as being of great public importance:

> Whether the decision in <u>Department of Business Regulation v.</u> <u>Hyman</u>, 417 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1982), should be applied when a licensee moves to dismiss an administrative complaint because the department or the board has failed to comply with the time limitations of section 455.225, Florida Statutes?

In that decision, the First District Court affirmed a final order of the Board of Optometry ("Board"). Only that portion of the final order dealing with the imposition of the administrative fine was reversed and remanded for reconsideration.

The petitioner, R. Timothy Carter, O.D. ("Carter" or "Petitioner") was the Appellant in the appeal below and the respondent in the disciplinary proceedings before the Board of Optometry. The respondent, Department of Professional Regulation ("Department") was the Appellee in the appeal before the First District Court and the Petitioner in the underlying disciplinary case. The Board of Optometry is the administrative agency charged with final agency action for the licensing and regulation of optometrists in Florida pursuant to section 20.30, 455.225, and Chapter 463, Florida Statutes. The Department of Professional Regulation is the administrative agency with responsibility for investigating and prosecuting violations of Chapter 463 by optometrists.

All references to the original record on appeal shall be designated (R-). References to the Appendix shall be designated (A-). All emphasis is supplied by the Department

unless otherwise indicated.

\$

٠

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

÷

.

The Department accepts the Statement of the Case and Facts of the Petitioner.

JURISDICTION

Carter seeks to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court in light of the question certified by the First District Court of Appeal as being of great public importance. Article V, section 3(b)(4), Florida Constitution. As this Court has already spoken on this issue, this case is not one in which invoking the Court's discretionary jurisdiction is appropriate.

It is axiomatic that under Article V of the Florida Constitution, the jurisdiction of this court is limited and, with specifically delineated exceptions, the decisions of the district courts are to be considered final. <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980); <u>Seaboard Air Line Railroad v. Branham</u>, 104 So. 2d 356, 358 (Fla. 1958)("To grant a review of the decision of the District Court of Appeal under these circumstance would amount, in effect, to allowing the petitioners two separate successive appeals at two separate and distinct levels; and this the constitution does not authorize.")

In this case, the First District clearly stated:

Ċ

We decline, however, to treat violations of section 455.225 time limits as requiring dismissal of the complaint or voiding of the order as a matter of law. Rather, we hold that the licensee, as the moving party, has the burden to establish a basis for dismissal by showing (1) that the board or department has violated the time limits in section 455.225, and (2) that the consequent delays may have impaired the fairness of the proceedings or the correctness of the action and may have prejudiced the licensee. In so holding, we follow the analysis used by the supreme court in <u>Department of Business Regulation</u> v. Hyman in respect to violations of the 90-day requirement in section 120.59(1). The policy reasons for the holding in <u>Hyman</u> apply with equal force in the case at bar. There, as here, the legislature had specified no sanction for agency noncompliance with a statutory time limitation. The supreme court explained in <u>Hyman</u> that, under such circumstances, the statutory time requirement must be read in conjunction with section 120.68(8), which the supreme court characterized as "the harmless error rule for agency action."

~

<u>Carter v. Department of Professional Regulation</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D409, D410 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 23, 1993). Although certifying the question, the First District Court applied the most recent caselaw and statement by this Court on this very issue. The holding in <u>Hyman</u> is especially appropriate where, as here, the delineated time deadlines can be extended by the Secretary of the Department. Thus, any additional time and expense the Court would expend in taking jurisdiction in this case would not be a wise use of its resources. The question certified to this Court in the decision below, therefore, is not a question deserving of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. The decision of the First District Court is clear and based on precedent by this Court. There is no need for this Court to re-examine the issue.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner Carter raises three issues for this Court's review. First, he claims that the First District Court of Appeal erred below in applying the "harmless error" rule as articulated in <u>Department of Business Regulation v. Hyman</u>, 417 So. 2d 671 (Fla. 1982) to the Department's failure to adhere to the time limits set forth in section 455.225, Florida Statutes. The Department asserts that the court correctly applied the harmless error standard because, as with section 120.59(1), Florida Statutes in <u>Hyman</u>, the time limits articulated in section 455.225 are not jurisdictional. Had the Legislature intended that untimely requests for further investigation or for untimely probable cause determinations to result in dismissal, such a sanction would have been expressly stated in the statute.

The time limits in section 455.225, Florida Statutes, not being jurisdictional, no divestment of jurisdiction occurred such that action by the Department, the Board or the panel constituted an invalid exercise of delegated authority.

Secondly, contrary to Carter's assertions, public policy considerations dictate the application of the harmless error standard to violations of section 455.225, Florida Statues. The harsh result of dismissal of the complaint in no way protects the health, safety and welfare of the public, in accordance with the Department's mandate under section 455.201, Florida Statutes. Dismissal only benefits the licensee against whom the complaint is filed, who in cases such as Carter's, will then continue to practice below the standard of care without penalty, restriction or rehabilitation. Such a result was not intended by the Legislature in drafting section 455.225, Florida Statutes.

6

Carter asserts that the strict adherence to basic procedural rules protects both the public and the licensee's rights. Where, as here, he argues that strict adherence dictates dismissal as the appropriate sanction for noncompliance, the Department instead supports the balancing of these competing interests. The First District Court's application of the harmless error rule, rather than the draconian measure of dismissal of the complaint against the licensee, strikes the proper balance between harm to the public and harm to the licensee.

Finally, Carter argues that if this Court upholds the First District Court's application of the harmless error standard articulated in <u>Hyman</u> to the time limits in section 455.225, Florida Statutes, the burden of showing prejudice should rest on the Department, and not on the licensee as that court required. The Department contends that the licensee is the party who can best know and demonstrate any harm accruing to him from actions by the Department, the Board or the panel. Furthermore, such a position is supported by case law in a criminal setting in which there was a significant delay in both the arrest and subsequent indictment of the defendant. In this case, Carter could show no prejudice to him caused by the asserted time limit violations; the hearing officer, the Board and the First District Court found none. The decision by the First District Court properly placed the burden on Carter to demonstrate prejudice resulting from asserted violations of section 455.225, Florida Statutes.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT ERR IN APPLYING THE "HARMLESS ERROR" STANDARD IN DECIDING THE CASE BELOW.

A. The time limits articulated in section 455.225, Florida Statutes, are not jurisdictional.

Carter's first issue on appeal asserts that the First District Court of Appeal erred in applying the harmless error standard as articulated in this Court's opinion in <u>Department of Business Regulation v. Hyman</u>, 417 So. 2d 671 (Fla. 1982), to the time limits set forth in section 455.225, Florida Statutes. His contention is that these time limits delineate the window of time within which the Department, the Board and the probable cause panel must exercise their respective powers. This argument must fail for several reasons.

Carter asserts that the First District Court's decision below relying on this Court's decision in <u>Hyman</u> is incorrect. Section 455.225, at issue herein, is distinguishable from section 120.59 which the Court analyzed in <u>Hyman</u>, because the latter statute does not make express the consequences of failure to act within the prescribed time period. Carter makes the unsupported statement that "[s]ection 455.225, on the other hand, removes the power to act once the time periods expire." No such express removal exists in the statute, and the First District Court so found when it stated:

We decline, however, to treat violations of section 455.225 time limits as requiring dismissal of the complaint or voiding of the order as a matter of law.... In so holding, we follow the analysis used by the supreme court in <u>Department of Business</u> <u>Regulation v. Hyman</u>, in respect to violations of the 90-day requirement in section 120.59(1). The policy reasons for the holding in <u>Hyman</u> apply with equal force in the case at bar.

8

There, as here, the legislature had specified no sanction for agency noncompliance with a statutory time limitation.

<u>Carter</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at 410. If the Legislature had intended that untimely requests for further investigation, or for untimely probable cause determinations in proceedings in which the agency is the protagonist would always result in dismissal, the Department believes that it would have included the necessary language in section 455.225 to impose such a sanction, as it has done elsewhere in statutes outlining administrative procedure. <u>Hyman</u>, 417 So. 2d at 673.

Furthermore, the 15-day and 30-day time periods outlined in section 455.225, Florida Statutes, speak only to the probable cause panel's decision that further investigation is required before it can make a probable cause determination and to the panel's making the determination once the investigation is final. Once the time limit is reached, the Department may still make a probable cause determination thereafter. Nothing in the language of the statute suggests that divestment of jurisdiction for the complaint itself is a consequence of failing to meet these deadlines. Indeed, such a drastic result for merely failing to request further investigation within 15 days seems draconian in the extreme.

The statute expressly provides for the extension of those time limits by the Secretary of the Department. Section 455.225(3), Florida Statutes. It is axiomatic that jurisdictional time limits can neither be extended nor waived. Even assent by both of the parties is not sufficient to revest jurisdiction where jurisdictional time limits have run. Furthermore, the statute provides for no dismissal of the complaint as a matter of law in the event of a failure by the panel to meet the statutory time limits.

Also, the Department is directed by the statute to "expeditiously" investigate complaints. No specific time limit for investigation of a complaint is set by statute. The Department asserts that the Legislature did not set a time limit in recognition of the different set of facts and circumstances that each new complaint presents for the Department to investigate. Indeed, section 455.225(3), Florida Statutes, bears this statement out. The Legislature implicitly acknowledges that some cases may even take a year, or more, to investigate when it provided the Board a remedy against the Department to insure that cases over a year old which had neither been referred to the Division of Administrative Hearing nor had not been completely investigated would be handled by a special Board prosecutor. Thus, not only does section 455.225 not provide dismissal as a remedy for failure to investigate within a year, but the provision expressly envisions that some investigations may take over a year to complete. In this case, the completion of the investigation was complicated by the fact that the complainant had moved away from the area where the events giving rise to the complaint took place, the documents were lengthy and the investigation required the use of multiple consultants. (R-219, 364, 486, 487-488).

Carter anticipates the Department's argument and distinguishes both <u>Beckum v.</u> <u>Department of Professional Regulation</u>, 427 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) and <u>Carrow</u> <u>v. Department of Professional Regulation</u>, 453 So. 2d 842 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). While neither case is directly on point, both cases dealt with irregularities by the Department or probable cause panel in compliance with the requirements of section 455.225, Florida Statutes.

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